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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA 

Center for Biological Diversity et al., 

Plaintiffs, 

 v. 

Anthony (Scott) Feldhausen, Bureau 
of Land Management Gila District 
Manager, et al. 

Defendants 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
)
) 

No. CV-4:21-00409-TUC-DCB 

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT  

This Settlement Agreement is entered into by and between Plaintiffs Center for 

Biological Diversity and Maricopa Audubon Society (referred to herein as “Plaintiffs”) 

and Defendants Anthony (Scott) Feldhausen, U.S. Bureau of Land Management Gila 

District Manager; Raymond Suazo, U.S. Bureau of Land Management Arizona State 

Director; and Tracy Stone-Manning, Director of the U.S. Bureau of Land Management, 

(all Defendants collectively referred to herein as “BLM”).  Plaintiffs and Defendants 

(collectively “the Parties”) state as follows through undersigned counsel: 

WHEREAS Plaintiffs filed their original “Complaint for Declaratory and 

Injunctive Relief,” ECF No. 1 in the above-captioned case, on October 6, 2021 and their 
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“Amended Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief,” ECF No. 10 (hereafter “the 

Complaint”), on October 27, 2021; 

 WHEREAS Plaintiffs’ Complaint alleges that Defendants have violated section 

7(a)(1) of the Endangered Species Act (“ESA”), 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(1), in relation to the 

BLM’s alleged failures to carry out a program to conserve the ESA-listed Huachuca 

water umbel at the San Pedro Riparian National Conservation Area (“SPRNCA”) or to 

otherwise prevent damage to the species and its habitat within the SPRNCA caused by 

unauthorized trespass livestock.  

 WHEREAS the BLM continues to undertake efforts to remove and exclude 

unauthorized livestock and intends to continue these efforts in earnest, conditions 

permitting; 

 WHEREAS the BLM will continue to coordinate with associated permittees 

and/or livestock owners to address unauthorized livestock that are discovered within the 

SPRNCA in areas that are excluded from grazing;  

 WHEREAS, the Parties agree that executing this Agreement in this manner is in 

the public interest and an appropriate way to resolve this dispute.  

 WHEREAS, the Parties desire to compromise and settle Plaintiffs’ claims 

according to the terms set forth below, and thus agree to the following terms and 

conditions:  

1. BLM will consider information regarding alleged trespass grazing in the SPRNCA 

submitted by Plaintiffs or the public to the Tucson BLM office email (BLM ̲ AZ ̲ 
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TFOWEB@blm.gov), and will acknowledge the receipt of any such information within 

three business days.  

 (a) Plaintiffs will make their best efforts to provide as much detail as possible 

to BLM when reporting potential livestock trespass incidents.  To the extent 

possible, Plaintiffs must include the date and time of the discovery of livestock, 

the location of the livestock (ideally in UTM Zone 12 in NAD 83), the number, 

color or markings, brands, or ear tags of livestock observed, and date-stamped 

photos of the livestock with identifiable features of the animals. When submitting 

reports of trespass livestock to BLM, Plaintiffs will provide the name and contact 

information of an individual whom BLM may contact to discuss the report. 

Reports that include verifiable locations and dates of livestock in areas where they 

are not authorized will trigger the requirements of Paragraph 2. 

 (b) If notification from Plaintiffs or other parties is not timely, lacks 

information requested in this Paragraph 1 and/or only includes evidence of tracks 

and/or droppings, BLM will make a reasonable effort to seek out and detect any 

livestock associated with that notification, including contacting the reporting party 

within three business days of the notification, contingent on available staffing, to 

obtain more information about where to locate the livestock.  If BLM determines 

based on the further information provided (or otherwise) that livestock are likely 

present in the vicinity of the reported location(s), BLM will follow the process set 

forth in Paragraph 2. 
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2. If the BLM is able to verify that livestock are present in the reported location(s), it 

will make reasonable efforts to notify the permittee/lessee and/or livestock owner of the 

presence of livestock within two business days and will provide instruction for removal, 

which will include, if appropriate, a date certain by which livestock must be removed and 

a description of what further steps BLM will take if livestock are not removed by that 

date. All actions associated with detection, permittee/livestock owner contact, and 

removal will be documented and included in the reports to Plaintiffs described in 

Paragraph 9. 

3.  BLM will maintain fencing and remove livestock from riparian areas of the 

SPRNCA excluded from livestock grazing, as specified herein, twice a year, at minimum, 

and otherwise as the BLM determines is needed. Although the specific dates of these 

efforts may vary according to conditions on the ground, BLM will ensure that this work 

is conducted on a seasonal basis to prevent as much damage from livestock as possible to 

riparian areas and vulnerable species. BLM will conduct a round of both fence 

maintenance and livestock removal in at least two different seasons each year, occurring 

at least one month apart. BLM will document these efforts in the reports to Plaintiffs 

described in Paragraph 9. Likewise, BLM will document the reasons for any 

determinations of whether additional work is needed under this paragraph and include 

that documentation in the reports to Plaintiffs described in Paragraph 9. If these efforts 

are not effective, BLM may coordinate with the State Brand Inspector to gather cattle in 
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SPRNCA outside of grazing allotments, notify the owners of branded livestock to recover 

their animals, and send unbranded livestock to auction. 

4. The BLM will monitor riparian areas of the SPRNCA excluded from livestock 

grazing for the presence of livestock, with special emphasis on the area with the highest 

concentration of the Huachuca water umbel, and conduct a minimum of two inspections 

each year. BLM will conduct inspections of riparian areas excluded from livestock 

grazing for the presence of livestock on a seasonal basis.  BLM will inspect and monitor 

such riparian areas pursuant to this paragraph in at least two different seasons each year, 

occurring at least one month apart.  BLM’s inspections of riparian areas for the presence 

of unauthorized livestock will place a special emphasis on areas with the highest current 

or historic concentrations of the Huachuca water umbel, including but not limited to the 

area between Hereford Bridge and Highway 90 and any other areas where the BLM 

receives notice and evidence of significant Huachuca water umbel population(s). 

5. The timing of BLM’s monitoring inspections may vary depending upon conditions 

on the ground. 

6. If the BLM detects livestock in any excluded riparian areas identified in Paragraph 

4, the agency will initiate the appropriate administrative process to remove those 

livestock from the area. 

 (a) If branded livestock traceable to an owner are detected in excluded riparian 

areas, the BLM will make reasonable efforts to contact the owner of the livestock 

within two business days after the unauthorized use is confirmed and provide 
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instruction for removal. If appropriate, instructions for removal will include a date 

certain by which livestock must be removed and a description of what further 

steps BLM will take if livestock are not removed by that date.  

 (b) BLM will verify that the livestock have been removed either through a site 

visit or discussion with the owner of the livestock. All actions associated with 

detection, contact with the permittee/livestock owner, and livestock removal will 

be documented and included in the reports to Plaintiffs described in Paragraph 9. 

 (c) If BLM cannot identify the owner of livestock detected in excluded riparian 

areas, the BLM will make reasonable efforts to safely remove the livestock. 

BLM’s reasonable efforts may include coordinating with the State Brand Inspector 

to gather all cattle in SPRNCA outside of grazing allotments, and notify the 

owners of branded livestock to recover their animals, and send unbranded 

livestock to auction. All such efforts will be documented and included in the 

reports to Plaintiffs described in Paragraph 9. 

7. If animals are detected within excluded areas, BLM will work with the associated 

permittee/lessee and/or livestock owner to determine how the animals gained access to 

the area, including assessing any gaps in natural barriers. BLM will determine 

appropriate corrective actions including, but not limited to, new fences, repair of existing 

fences, or installation of cattle guards. If BLM is unable to determine the owner of 

unauthorized livestock found in the SPRNCA, BLM will make reasonable efforts to 

determine how the animals gained access to the area, including a visual inspection of 
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nearby fences and gates. Any corrective action by BLM is subject to available staffing 

and funding and compliance with applicable law. All activities under this paragraph will 

be documented and included in the reports to Plaintiffs described in Paragraph 9. 

8. Minor repairs of fencing, e.g., busted wire and closing gate(s), will be 

accomplished as soon as practicable. Repairs requiring additional work, e.g., new wire 

and post to patch hole or removal of fallen trees, will be completed within 14 days, to the 

extent reasonable and feasible, and subject to accessibility to the site, available materials, 

and funding. Inspection and repair of water gaps will occur as soon as practicable after 

storms that cause stream levels to rise to a level that could impact and damage fences and 

when it is safe to do so. 

9. BLM will provide Plaintiffs with biannual reports listing activities conducted 

under the terms of this settlement, including activities taken under Paragraphs 2, 3, 4, 6, 

7, and 8. BLM will provide its first report to Plaintiffs within six months of the effective 

date of this Agreement, which will include description of any areas where BLM has 

identified a need for fencing repair and BLM’s anticipated ability to fund and execute 

such fencing repairs or improvement during the term of this Agreement.  BLM’s 

correspondence accompanying these reports under this Agreement will be signed by an 

authorized official. 

10. Any notice required or made with respect to this Agreement shall be in writing and 

shall be effective on the date that notice is delivered by electronic mail.  For any matter 
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relating to this Agreement, with the exception of submissions pursuant to Paragraph 1, 

the contact persons are: 

• Center for Biological Diversity: Dr. Robin Silver (rsilver@biologicaldiversity.org) 

• Maricopa Audubon Society: Charles Babbitt (cjbabbitt@cox.net) 

• BLM: Rachel L. Kent (rachel.kent@sol.doi.gov) 

Upon written notice to the other Parties, any Party may designate a successor contact 

person for any matter relating to this Agreement. 

11. The Parties agree to submit to the Court a stipulation of dismissal without 

prejudice under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 41(a)(1)(A)(ii) in the form attached as 

Exhibit A within five (5) days of the effective date of this Agreement.  The Parties may 

provide this Agreement to the Court for informational purposes only. 

12. In the event of a disagreement between the Parties concerning the interpretation or 

performance of any aspect of this Agreement, the dissatisfied Party shall provide the 

other Parties with written notice of the dispute and a request for negotiations.  Within 

seven (7) days after such notification, the Parties will initiate discussions and attempt to 

resolve the dispute.  The Parties shall confer to attempt to resolve the dispute within thirty 

(30) days after receipt of the notice, or such time thereafter as is mutually agreed upon.  If 

the Parties are unable to resolve the dispute within thirty (30) days of the initial meet and 

confer, Plaintiffs’ only recourse under this Agreement is to file a new lawsuit.  Through 

this Agreement, Defendants do not waive any jurisdictional, procedural, or substantive 
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defenses to any new lawsuit.  In no case shall a Party institute such action without first 

invoking the dispute resolution procedures of this Agreement.  

13. The commitments made by the BLM in Paragraphs 1 through 9 will commence on 

the effective date of this Agreement and continue for three (3) years. Each “year” 

referenced in this Agreement begins and ends on the effective date of this Agreement and 

anniversaries of that effective date.  Except as stated otherwise herein, the BLM retains 

discretion in how it carries out its obligations under the Agreement. 

14. The Parties understand that notwithstanding their efforts to comply with the 

commitments contained herein, events beyond their control may prevent or delay such 

compliance. Such events may include natural disasters as well as unavoidable legal 

barriers or restraints, including those arising from actions of persons or entities that are 

not party to this Agreement. Force majeure shall not continue beyond the circumstances 

and conditions that prevent timely performance and shall not apply if alternative means 

of compliance are available.   

15. Plaintiffs reserve any claims against Defendants for recovery of costs of litigation, 

including reasonable attorney and expert witness fees, through and including the effective 

date of this Agreement pursuant to the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412(d); 

ESA Section 11(g)(4), 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(4); and/or any other statute and/or common 

law theory.  Notwithstanding the dismissal of this action, the Parties agree that the Court 

retains jurisdiction following the dismissal to resolve any claims by Plaintiffs against 

Defendants for an award of costs of litigation.  Plaintiffs and Defendants will negotiate 
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the claims for fees and costs of this action.  If the parties fail to resolve Plaintiffs’ claim 

for costs of litigation within two months of the entry of the stipulation of dismissal, 

Plaintiffs may, within an additional two months (i.e., within four months of the entry of 

the stipulation of dismissal) or such other time as the Court may order, file a motion for 

costs of litigation (including reasonable attorney and expert witness fees) with the Court.  

Defendants do not waive any right to contest any fees, costs or expenses claimed by 

Plaintiffs. 

16. Nothing in this Agreement shall be interpreted as, or shall constitute, a 

commitment or requirement that Defendants obligate or pay funds, or take any other 

actions in contravention of the Anti-Deficiency Act, 31 U.S.C. § 1341, or any other 

applicable law. No provision in this Agreement shall be interpreted as or constitute a 

commitment or requirement that BLM take any action in contravention of the 

Administrative Procedure Act or ESA, or any other law or regulations, either substantive 

or procedural.   

17. The undersigned representatives of Plaintiffs and Defendants certify that they are 

fully authorized by the Party or Parties whom they represent to enter into the terms and 

conditions of this Agreement and to legally bind those Parties to it. 

18. It is hereby expressly understood and agreed that this Agreement was jointly 

drafted by all Parties. Accordingly, the Parties hereby agree that any and all rules of 

construction, to the effect that ambiguity is construed against the drafting Party, shall be 
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inapplicable in any dispute concerning the terms, meaning, or interpretation of the 

Agreement. 

19. This Agreement contains all of the agreements between Plaintiffs and Defendants 

and is intended to be and is the final and sole agreement between the Parties concerning 

the complete and final resolution of Plaintiffs’ claims. Plaintiffs and Defendants agree 

that any other prior or contemporaneous representations or understandings not explicitly 

contained in this Agreement, whether written or oral, are of no further legal or equitable 

force or effect. Any subsequent modifications to this Agreement must be in writing, and 

must be signed and executed by all Plaintiffs and Defendants. 

20. This Agreement is the result of compromise and settlement, and does not 

constitute an admission or evidence of any issue of fact or law, wrongdoing, misconduct, 

or liability on the part of any Party.  The Parties agree that this Agreement was negotiated 

in good faith and that this Agreement constitutes a resolution of claims that were denied 

and disputed by the Parties. This Agreement has no precedential value and shall not be 

cited in any other litigation. 

21. This Agreement shall take effect upon execution by all the Parties. 

 

 On Behalf of Plaintiffs: 

Dated this 9th day of August, 2022 
 
/s/ Matthew R. Arnold 
Matt Arnold 
William S. Eubanks II 
Eubanks & Associates, PLLC 
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1331 H Street NW, Suite 902 
Washington, D.C. 20005 
bill@eubankslegal.com 
matt@eubankslegal.com 
(970) 703-6060 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 

  

 On Behalf of Defendants: 

 Dated this 9th day of August, 2022 

TODD KIM 
Assistant Attorney General 
U.S. Department of Justice 
Environment and Natural Resources Division 
 
/s/ John H. Martin  
JOHN H. MARTIN (Colo. Bar 32667) 
Wildlife & Marine Resources Section 
999 18th St., South Terrace Suite 370 
Denver, CO 80202 
john.h.martin@usdoj.gov 
Tel: (303) 844-1383 
Fax: (303) 844-1350 

 
 Attorneys for Defendants  
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA 

 
Center for Biological Diversity et al., 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
   v. 
 
Anthony (Scott) Feldhausen, Bureau 
of Land Management Gila District 
Manager, et al. 
 
  Defendants 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
)
) 

No. CV-4:21-00409-TUC-DCB 
 
STIPULATION OF VOLUNTARY 
DISMISSAL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

WHEREAS Plaintiffs filed their original “Complaint for Declaratory and 

Injunctive Relief,” ECF No. 1 in the above-captioned case, on October 6, 2021 and their 

“Amended Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief,” ECF No. 10 (hereafter “the 

Complaint”), on October 27, 2021; 

WHEREAS Plaintiffs’ Complaint alleges that Defendants have violated section 

7(a)(1) of the Endangered Species Act (“ESA”), 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(1), in relation to the 

BLM’s alleged failures to carry out a program to conserve the ESA-listed Huachuca 

water umbel at the San Pedro Riparian National Conservation Area (“SPRNCA”) or to 

otherwise  prevent damage to the species and its habitat caused by unauthorized trespass 

livestock within the SPRNCA.  
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WHEREAS, in order to resolve this Lawsuit, the Parties, through their authorized 

representatives, and without any admission of fact or law with respect to Plaintiffs’ 

claims, have reached a Settlement Agreement resolving the claims raised in this Lawsuit, 

which is referenced here for informational purposes only, and is not incorporated into this 

Stipulation, nor is it an enforceable order of the Court; 

WHEREAS the Settlement Agreement calls for the filing of this Stipulation of 

Voluntary Dismissal pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 41(a)(1)(A), as set forth 

below and in the attached proposed Order;  

NOW, THEREFORE, THE PARTIES STIPULATE AS FOLLOWS:  

1. All counts of the Complaint shall be dismissed without prejudice.  

2. Notwithstanding the dismissal of this action, the Parties agree and request that the 

Court retain jurisdiction following the dismissal to resolve any claims by Plaintiffs 

against Defendants for attorney fees and costs.  Plaintiffs shall file any motion seeking 

their costs of litigation, including reasonable attorney and expert witness fees, within four 

months of the date of this Order. 

It is so stipulated. 

 Dated: August 9, 2022    

  

 /s/ Matt Arnold (by permission)  
Matt Arnold 
William S. Eubanks II 
Eubanks & Associates, PLLC 
1331 H Street NW, Suite 902 
Washington, D.C. 20005 
DC Bar No. 987036 (admitted pro hac vice) 
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bill@eubankslegal.com 
matt@eubankslegal.com 
(970) 703-6060 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 

 
TODD KIM 
Assistant Attorney General 
U.S. Department of Justice 
Environment and Natural Resources Division 
 
/s/ John H. Martin 
JOHN H. MARTIN (Colo. Bar 32667) 
Wildlife & Marine Resources Section 
999 18th St., South Terrace Suite 370 
Denver, CO 80202 
john.h.martin@usdoj.gov 
Tel: (303) 844-1383 
Fax: (303) 844-1350 

 
 Attorneys for Defendants 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that I have caused the foregoing Stipulation of Voluntary 

Dismissal to be served upon counsel of record through the Court’s electronic service 

system. 

   

Dated:  August 9, 2022   /s/ John Martin    



 

 

  

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA 

 
Center for Biological Diversity et al., 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
   v. 
 
Anthony (Scott) Feldhausen, Bureau 
of Land Management Gila District 
Manager, et al. 
 
  Defendants 
 

) 
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) 
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) 

No. CV-4:21-00409-TUC-DCB 
 
[PROPOSED] ORDER 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 Pursuant to Stipulation, it is hereby ordered that all counts of the Complaint in the 

above-captioned case are dismissed without prejudice. Plaintiffs shall file any motion 

seeking recovery of their costs of litigation (including reasonable attorney and expert 

witness fees) within four months of the date of this Order. 

DATED this _____day of August, 2022 

 

 

       _____________________ 
       Honorable David C. Bury 
       United States District Judge 
  


